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EFFORTS TO DEAL WITH AMERICA’S IMAGE 
ABROAD: ARE THEY WORKING? 

THURSDAY, APRIL 26, 2007

HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON INTERNATIONAL ORGANIZATIONS,

HUMAN RIGHTS, AND OVERSIGHT,
COMMITTEE ON FOREIGN AFFAIRS, 

Washington, DC. 
The subcommittee met, pursuant to notice, at 1:35 p.m. in room 

2172, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. William Delahunt 
(chairman of the subcommittee) presiding. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. This hearing on the Subcommittee on Inter-
national Organizations, Human Rights and Oversight will come to 
order. 

On behalf of my friend and ranking member, Mr. Rohrabacher, 
I would like to welcome our witnesses here today. You might, obvi-
ously, note that Mr. Rohrabacher is not with us. He has had a 
death in the family, and he will be unable to attend. He is flying 
back to California, and our prayers are with him. 

This is one in a series of hearings our subcommittee is holding 
on how the United States is viewed from abroad. As members of 
the subcommittee know, I have begun these hearings by discussing 
a report in a 2005 transmission or transmittal letter by the non-
partisan Government Accountability Office. In that report, the 
GAO noted—and this language is taken directly from the trans-
mittal letter—that ‘‘recent polling data show that anti-Ameri-
canism is spreading and deepening around the world and that 
some fear this threatens American national security because it can 
increase foreign public support for terrorism directed at Americans, 
impact the cost and effectiveness of military operations, weaken 
the United States’ ability to align with other nations in pursuit of 
current policy objectives, and dampen foreign publics’ enthusiasm 
for U.S. businesses’ service and products.’’

Now, we have heard in previous testimony that globally and in 
many European and Latin American countries support for United 
States military actions and favorable ratings for the United States, 
in general, have fallen since 2003 to all-time historic lows. Of 
course, there are exceptions to this trend, and we learn that, in 
sub-Saharan Africa, the picture is more positive. 

All of us share this concern about what these trends mean for 
the United States. Last week, the House Appropriations Sub-
committee on the State Department and Foreign Operations held 
its own hearing on public diplomacy programs that featured a 
prominent discussion of these polling data that I find so troubling. 
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Absent major changes in our foreign policy initiatives, what is 
our Government doing to deal with this erosion of respect and pres-
tige for the United States? 

Well, today, I am pleased that we have Mr. Jess Ford with us, 
the Director of GAO’s International Affairs and Trade Team. He 
has led GAO’s recent evaluation of public diplomacy programs, and 
today, we will be discussing the reports in which he and his staff 
have analyzed. 

Lisa Curtis is our other witness. She is the Senior Fellow at the 
Heritage Foundation’s Asian Study Center, and has a very impres-
sive resume. 

Before introducing in a more ample fashion Ms. Curtis and Mr. 
Ford, let me turn to see whether the vice chairman of the sub-
committee, Mr. Carnahan, wishes to make any opening statement. 

Mr. CARNAHAN. I would, indeed. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and 
thank you to our witnesses for being here today. 

I want to really reiterate my thanks to the chairman and the 
ranking member for holding this comprehensive series of hearings 
on America’s image abroad. The results of these hearings, while not 
surprising, provided very powerful evidence that we have severely 
damaged our standing around the world. 

As we all know, a strong image of America abroad functions as 
a central tenet of U.S. foreign policy. Our efforts to rebuild that 
image should be strongly supported, and I believe that this strat-
egy should be wide-ranging. As a college student, I had a great op-
portunity to study abroad in England. I am a strong supporter of 
these types of student exchanges. I think they can go a long way 
to really enhance our relations, and I am reminded of a quote from 
one of our famous Missourians, Mark Twain, on travel. He said, ‘‘It 
is fatal to bigotry and narrow-mindedness all foes to real under-
standing.’’ So I think that can be a powerful tool. 

I am curious to hear from Ms. Curtis. You mentioned inter-
national exchanges in your written testimony regarding various 
State Department programs. I would be very interested to hear 
what we can do to enhance and to even expand those kinds of pro-
grams, and of course, these programs and others could not be fully 
implemented unless we have a coherent public diplomacy strategy. 

Mr. Ford, I would touch on just one aspect of your written testi-
mony. You indicate that the 2005 GAO study found the State De-
partment’s efforts to engage the private sector in public diplomacy 
have been met with mixed results. I would be interested to hear 
what you believe should be contained in such a strategy. 

So, again, thank you all for being here today. I look forward to 
your testimony. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Thank you, Mr. Carnahan. 
Now let me more formally introduce our witnesses. 
As I indicated, Jess Ford is GAO’s Director of International Af-

fairs and Trade. Since 1973, Mr. Ford has worked extensively in 
the national security and international affairs area at the GAO, di-
recting numerous studies on U.S. national security issues, public 
diplomacy, foreign assistance, counternarcotics, border security, 
and foreign affairs management. Mr. Ford received a bachelor’s de-
gree in political science from Hiram College and a master’s degree 
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in international relations from the Fletcher School of Law and Di-
plomacy. He is also a graduate of the National War College. 

Ms. Curtis is a senior associate at the Heritage Foundation. She 
focuses on analyzing America’s economic security and political rela-
tionships with India, Pakistan, Sri Lanka, Bangladesh, and Nepal. 
Before joining the Heritage Foundation in 2006, she was a profes-
sional staff member of the Senate Foreign Relations Committee 
where she served as the lead expert of South Asia for some 3 years. 
From 2001 to 2003, Ms. Curtis served as senior advisor in the 
State Department’s South Asia Bureau. Previously, she served in 
the CIA as a political analyst on South Asia. She also served 2-year 
stints as a political officer to the U.S. Embassies in Islamabad and 
in New Delhi from 1994 to 1998. 

Why don’t we proceed first with Mr. Ford. We have a tendency 
to be very informal. We do not use the gavel, so please take your 
time, and let us have a full discussion and dialogue, and we look 
forward to your testimony. 

Mr. Ford. 

STATEMENT OF MR. JESS T. FORD, DIRECTOR, INTER-
NATIONAL AFFAIRS OFFICE OF INTERNATIONAL AFFAIRS 
AND TRADE, U.S. GOVERNMENT ACCOUNTABILITY OFFICE 

Mr. FORD. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, members of the sub-
committee. I would like to have my full statement entered for the 
record. I am going to summarize it. 

I am pleased to be here today to discuss GAO’s work on U.S. 
public diplomacy efforts. Since the terrorist attacks of September 
11, polling data have generally shown that anti-Americanism has 
spread and intensified around the world and that many groups 
have concluded that this trend may have harmed U.S. national se-
curity and business interests. U.S. public diplomacy activities de-
signed to counter such negative sentiments are largely divided be-
tween the State Department and the Broadcasting Board of Gov-
ernors, which oversees U.S. international broadcast operations. In 
the past 4 years, we have issued a series of reports on U.S. public 
diplomacy efforts. Currently, at the request of the ranking member 
of the Senate Foreign Relations Committee, we are reviewing how 
research is used to inform and direct U.S. Government efforts to 
communicate with foreign audiences, and we hope to issue a final 
report on that later this summer. 

The key objectives of U.S. public diplomacy are to engage, inform 
and influence overseas’ audiences. The State Department’s Under 
Secretary of Public Diplomacy and Public Affairs oversees an an-
nual budget of nearly $800 million, which funds activities of pro-
gram bureaus in Washington and activities of nearly 700 public di-
plomacy officers located in 260 overseas posts. Program efforts in-
clude academic and professional exchanges, English language 
training, information programs, and news management activities. 
The board for broadcasting operates and oversees all of our inter-
national broadcasting efforts aimed to support U.S. public diplo-
macy objectives. The BBG manages a budget of approximately $650 
million that funds seven discrete broadcast entities, such as the 
Voice of America and the Middle East Broadcasting Network. They 
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broadcast in 57 foreign languages to 125 media markets around the 
world. 

Mr. Chairman, you asked us to discuss key findings from our re-
ports that we have issued over the last several years, particularly 
our Government’s public diplomacy strategy and challenges faced 
in implementing activities in the field. Today, I will talk about the 
reported negative consequences various groups have associated 
with rising anti-American sentiments, the strategy, planning, co-
ordination and performance measures issued related to U.S. public 
diplomacy efforts, and key challenges that hamper agency efforts. 

Public opinion polls of foreign audiences have generally shown 
that negative attitudes toward the United States continue to rise. 
For example, the Pew Global Attitudes Project has found increas-
ing anti-American sentiment throughout the world. Numerous ex-
perts, policymakers and business leaders have identified a variety 
of potential negative consequences of this growing anti-Ameri-
canism. According to these sources, anti-Americanism may have a 
negative impact on American economic interests around the world, 
the ability of the United States to pursue its foreign policy goals 
and succeed in foreign military operations and the security of 
Americans at home and abroad. 

Although we cannot draw a direct causal link between negative 
foreign public opinion toward our country and specific outcomes in 
these areas, it is clear that growing anti-Americanism does not 
help U.S., the United States, achieve its economic foreign policy 
and security goals. Therefore, U.S. public diplomacy efforts which 
seek to counter this negative foreign public opinion have a critical 
role to play. 

Key problems identified in our prior reports include a general 
lack of strategic planning, inadequate coordination among agencies, 
and problems with measuring performance and results. Beginning 
in 2003, we reported that the Government lacked an interagency 
communication strategy. Today, such a strategy still has not been 
released. Although, State Department officials have informed us 
that they anticipate it will soon be released by the White House. 
We also reported that the State Department did not have a strat-
egy to integrate its diverse public diplomacy activities. State has 
begun to address this shortcoming beginning in 2005 when the cur-
rent Under Secretary of Public Diplomacy developed a strategic 
framework to focus State Department efforts focusing on three 
main goals—first, to offer foreign publics a vision of hope and op-
portunity rooted in U.S. values; secondly, to isolate and 
marginalize violent extremism; and third, to nurture common inter-
ests and values. 

The State Department has not issued guidance on how its associ-
ated public diplomacy activities will be coordinated to achieve these 
goals. We also reported that overseas posts generally lacked impor-
tant strategic communication elements, such as identifying core 
messages and target audiences to meet our public diplomacy goals. 
Key steps in developing a more strategic approach include defined 
core messages, identifying target audiences, developing detailed 
communication strategies and tactics, and using research and eval-
uation to inform and redirect efforts as needed. 
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Last month, we also reported on challenges in publicizing U.S. 
foreign assistance that may result in missed opportunities to in-
crease public awareness of U.S. foreign aid activities overseas. We 
recommended that the State Department develop a better strategy 
to publicize our U.S. foreign assistance activities. We also rec-
ommended that the State Department develop more rigorous ways 
of measuring effectiveness to better document the impact of our 
public diplomacy efforts. The State Department has indicated that 
it will respond to these recommendations and take steps to achieve 
this goal. 

Regarding our international broadcasting operation, we have 
noted that the Board of Broadcasting Governors launched a new 
strategic approach in 2001. It included a focus on the U.S. War on 
Terror. BBG made this support tangible through several key initia-
tives, including the creation of Radio Sawa and Alhurra T.V. Net-
work, which is run by the Middle East broadcasting network. While 
these are noteworthy attempts to help turn the tide of negative 
opinion in the Muslim world toward the United States, our August 
2006 report on the Middle East broadcasting network rec-
ommended that they make several changes to the way they conduct 
surveys and in enhancing their methodologies to improve the accu-
racy of their audience research. 

We have also reported that the State Department and the BBG 
face multiple challenges in managing and implementing their pro-
grams overseas. In September 2003, and in subsequent reports, we 
reported that the State Department faced problems, including in-
sufficient numbers of public diplomacy staff, insufficient time to 
conduct public diplomacy activities overseas and shortfalls in staff 
with the required language skills. For example, in May of last year, 
we reported that about 15 percent of all of the State Department’s 
worldwide public diplomacy positions were vacant. Most recently, 
the State Department has informed us that the situation has actu-
ally grown worse, and they currently have 22 percent vacancies in 
their public diplomacy positions. 

We also reported that public diplomacy officers overseas were 
burdened with administrative tasks and had less time to conduct 
public diplomacy activities outside the Embassy. Officers told us 
they rarely had time to strategize, plan or evaluate their programs. 
This problem is compounded at posts with short tours of duty, 
which include many in the Muslim world. We reported last year 
that the average tour of duty in a Muslim majority country was 22 
percent shorter than in tours in the rest of the world. 

We also reported that the State Department continues to experi-
ence significant shortfalls in foreign language proficiency in coun-
tries around the world. We reported this problem was particularly 
acute in Muslim countries where 30 percent of language-designated 
public diplomacy positions were filled with officers without the re-
quired language proficiency. For Arabic language posts, we noted 
that 36 percent of language-designated public diplomacy positions 
were filled with staff that was unable to speak Arabic at the re-
quired level. State has taken steps recently to address this problem 
by enhancing its training activities, but these shortfalls still exist. 

Finally, we reported that the security concerns have forced Em-
bassies to close publicly accessible facilities and curtail certain pub-
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lic outreach efforts, sending unintended messages that the United 
States is unapproachable. The Department has attempted to com-
pensate for the lack of public presence in high-threat posts through 
a variety of means, including the use of small-scale external facili-
ties—they call them ‘‘American corners’’—and expanding Embassy 
speaker programs. 

Mr. Chairman, this concludes my opening statement. I would be 
happy to answer any questions. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Thank you, Mr. Ford. 
[The prepared statement of Mr. Ford follows:]
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Mr. DELAHUNT. Ms. Curtis, would you please proceed. 

STATEMENT OF MS. LISA CURTIS, SENIOR RESEARCH FEL-
LOW, ASIAN STUDIES CENTER, THE HERITAGE FOUNDATION 

Ms. CURTIS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman and Congressman 
Carnahan, for inviting me here today to speak about this important 
issue. It is really an honor to be able to share my thoughts on U.S. 
efforts to improve our image abroad. I will briefly summarize my 
written statement and ask that my full statement be included in 
the hearing record. 

Recent polls show the image of the U.S. is declining throughout 
the world and that large majorities of Muslim populations believe 
the U.S. seeks to undermine Islam as a religion. Defeating terrorist 
ideology requires that we dispel such negative perceptions of Amer-
ica and that we engage more actively and deliberately with the 
Muslim world. While we may never change the minds of murderous 
terrorists who despise America and its democratic ideals, we should 
reach out to those Muslims who do not support violence against 
Americans, but who still may have mixed feelings about the U.S. 
and its role in the world. 

Shortly after the attacks on 9/11, it became clear that merging 
the United States’ information agency into the State Department 
in 1999 had damaged overall U.S. public diplomacy efforts. The 
merger cut valuable resources for programs and resulted in an 
undervaluation of the mission of public diplomacy in supporting 
U.S. national security objectives. 

The Bush administration has sought to address the shortcomings 
of U.S. public diplomacy over the last 51⁄2 years with some positive 
results. However, much work lies ahead. Under Secretary of State 
for Public Diplomacy and Public Affairs, Karen Hughes, has moved 
forward with developing a unified strategic communications appa-
ratus, but progress has been slow, and she will have to persevere 
in her efforts to corral the disparate efforts. Hughes’ office also has 
had some success in boosting the role of public diplomacy in our 
overall diplomatic and security policies, but this also has proven to 
be a bureaucratic challenge. 

The most notable progress in developing a coordinated commu-
nications effort has been the establishment of a rapid response unit 
that follows newscasts around the world and offers talking points 
on breaking international news to counter the negative media sto-
ries about the U.S. in the Muslim world and elsewhere. 

The administration also is moving forward with efforts to build 
closer public-private partnerships. In early January of this year, 
the State Department held a major conference with senior U.S. ex-
ecutives to discuss the issue of improving the U.S. image abroad. 
The conference generated several ideas such as making public di-
plomacy actions a corporate officer’s responsibility and encouraging 
businesses to become part of the local community. One private sec-
tor participant at the conference noted that U.S. private-giving to 
developing countries exceeds $70 billion annually. Most of the 
world is unaware that Americans are providing this level of aid. 

While strategic communication is an important element in influ-
encing foreign populations’ opinions of America, it is equally impor-
tant to promote deeper, more frequent cultural engagement, peo-
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ple-to-people exchanges, and targeted development assistance pro-
grams to assert America’s soft power. The United States response 
to the South Asia earthquake in the fall of 2005 and its positive 
impact on Pakistani attitudes toward the United States dem-
onstrates that humanitarian assistance can influence popular 
views of America. 

I visited Pakistan, shortly after the earthquake, to attend the 
international donors’ conference, and I saw firsthand the apprecia-
tion of the Pakistani people for America’s rapid and robust re-
sponse to this monumental disaster. The U.S. Chinook helicopters 
that rescued survivors and ferried food and shelter materials to the 
affected areas became the symbol of America’s helping hand. Poll-
ing shows that our response to the earthquake doubled the percent-
age of Pakistanis with favorable views of the United States, from 
23 to 46 percent, from May to November 2005. In a similar vein, 
the United States response to the tsunami disaster had a positive 
impact on public opinion of America in Indonesia. 

Engaging with civil society and local religious leaders on issues 
such as human rights, political and economic reform and religion 
in society also will build greater understanding and help defeat 
misperceptions of the U.S. 

Twelve years ago, as a political officer serving at the U.S. Em-
bassy in Islamabad, I participated in the USIA-sponsored program 
to bring together American women who were Islamic scholars along 
with Pakistani female lawyers, human rights workers, and NGO 
leaders to discuss the role of women in Islam. I felt then and even 
more so now that it was one of the more worthwhile activities I 
was involved in as a diplomat. The U.S. has an important role to 
play in facilitating these kinds of international exchanges with civil 
society leaders. The State Department should encourage officers’ 
initiation and participation in such programs on a broad scale. We 
clearly have our work cut out for us. 

Recent polls tell us that opinions of America have declined mark-
edly to all-time lows in some countries, but the polls also show that 
the U.S. has opportunities to engage with the Muslim world on 
shared values. A recent Gallup poll, for example, shows that Mus-
lims generally admire the West for its advance technology and de-
mocracy and admire their own societies for their respect for Islam 
and its teachings and its own family values. In January 2007, 57 
percent of Americans reported not knowing much or nothing about 
Islam. Although, perhaps, not the role of the State Department, it 
seems clear that we as a Nation need to learn more about the Is-
lamic faith and get to know and respect its traditions and prac-
tices. The Gallup poll also concluded that Muslims and Americans 
generally agreed on the need to control extremism. We need to con-
tinue to raise the status of public diplomacy as a key element in 
fighting Islamic extremism and protecting U.S. national security. 
Under Secretary Hughes has made progress on this front by em-
powering ambassadors to speak more frequently to the media and 
by including public diplomacy as a key job element in senior State 
Department officers’ evaluations. 

There has been resistance to these efforts within the State De-
partment, which has led some outside experts to conclude that a 
separate public diplomacy entity like USIA needs to be reestab-
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lished. The transformation of the State Department may take some 
time, but in the end, it may be more beneficial to have a large 
corps of public diplomacy, savvy diplomats and an integration of 
U.S. foreign policy and strategic communication. We also need to 
clearly link the mission of USAID and the role of development and 
humanitarian assistance to our core national security objectives, 
and we need to ensure closer coordination between USAID and the 
State Department. 

Congress should also consider establishing a semi-government 
entity to conduct public opinion research in individual countries to 
allow us to tailor our messages to different audiences and to give 
U.S. public diplomacy efforts a solid factual foundation. Although 
several nonprofit organizations do this kind of work, it would be 
useful to have an agency that would be responsive to government 
tasking and whose staff could interact closely with government offi-
cials. 

So, in conclusion, I believe that, in order to isolate and defeat ex-
tremist ideologies, we need to focus more U.S. foreign policy atten-
tion and resources on soft power strategies that seek to win sup-
port from moderate Muslims worldwide. Right now, the score clear-
ly is not in our favor, and results are unlikely to come quickly. 
However, with a sustained and focused strategy, we should begin 
to see the fruits of our labor in the years to come. 

Thank you. That concludes my remarks. 
Mr. DELAHUNT. Well, thank you, Ms. Curtis. 
[The prepared statement of Ms. Curtis follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF MS. LISA CURTIS, SENIOR RESEARCH FELLOW, ASIAN 
STUDIES CENTER, THE HERITAGE FOUNDATION 

Mr. Chairman, Members of the Subcommittee, thank you for inviting me here 
today to discuss U.S. efforts to improve our image abroad. It is an honor to address 
this Subcommittee on such an important issue and to share my thoughts on how 
we might improve our public diplomacy efforts in the years to come.1 

The attacks of September 11, 2001, and their aftermath have renewed Washing-
ton’s focus on the importance of reaching out to foreign audiences, particularly with-
in the Muslim world, in order to boost support for U.S. values and policies. During 
the Cold War, U.S. policymakers understood the importance of the tools of public 
and cultural diplomacy in foreign policy. President Ronald Reagan defined public di-
plomacy as ‘‘Those actions of the U.S. government designed to generate support for 
U.S. national security objectives.’’ 2 

Recent polls show the image of the U.S. is declining throughout the world and 
that large majorities of Muslim populations believe the U.S. seeks to undermine 
Islam as a religion.3 Defeating terrorist ideology requires that we dispel such nega-
tive perceptions of America and that we engage more actively and deliberately with 
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the Muslim world. While we may never change the minds of murderous terrorists 
who despise America and its democratic ideals, we should reach out to those large 
segments of Muslim populations that do not support violence against Americans, but 
who still have mixed feelings about the U.S. and its role in the world. 
Efforts to Improve Public Diplomacy 

Shortly after 9/11, it became clear that merging the United States Information 
Agency (USIA) into the State Department in 1999 had damaged overall U.S. public 
diplomacy efforts by cutting valuable resources for programs and undervaluing the 
mission of public diplomacy in supporting U.S. national security objectives. The 
Bush Administration has sought to address the shortcomings of U.S. public diplo-
macy over the last five years, with some positive results. However, much work lies 
ahead. 

In the early days following the 9/11 attacks, the Bush Administration responded 
to the gaps in our public diplomacy strategy by putting in place an Under Secretary 
for Public Diplomacy, Charlotte Beers, who had spent her career in the private sec-
tor as a well-renowned marketing expert. The White House also instituted regular 
White House-run inter-agency strategic communication meetings. Three years later, 
as opinion polls showed America’s reputation continuing to plummet worldwide—
and former Secretary of Defense Rumsfeld asked his famous question about whether 
America was capturing and eliminating more terrorists than it was creating—the 
soul-searching to develop a better U.S. public diplomacy campaign continued. 

In September 2004, the Office of the Under Secretary for Acquisition, Technology, 
and Logistics released the ‘‘Report of the Defense Science Board Task Force on Stra-
tegic Communication.’’ The report concluded that the U.S. needed to transform its 
strategic communications efforts through a Presidential directive to ‘‘connect strat-
egy to structure’’ and improve interagency coordination. The report called for greater 
government-private sector collaboration and the creation of an independent, non-
profit, and non-partisan Center for Strategic Communication.4 In April of 2003, The 
Heritage Foundation released a report titled, ‘‘How to Reinvigorate U.S. Public Di-
plomacy,’’ which included recommendations that the Administration and Congress 
restore public diplomacy’s independent reporting and budget channels that were lost 
during the USIA/State merger in 1999 and return public diplomacy currently dis-
persed among other State Department bureaus into one public diplomacy hier-
archy.5 

The Bush Administration has made several attempts since 9/11 to streamline the 
public diplomacy bureaucracy and tighten strategic communications. Given the myr-
iad and diverse public diplomacy efforts of the U.S. government, however, this has 
proved to be a far more difficult task than anyone originally expected. In January 
2003, President George W. Bush formally established the Office of Global Commu-
nications (OGC) to facilitate and coordinate the strategic direction of the White 
House and individual agency efforts to communicate with foreign audiences.6 One 
year ago, President Bush established a new Policy Coordination Committee on Pub-
lic Diplomacy and Strategic Communication led by the State Department Under 
Secretary for Public Diplomacy and Public Affairs. This Committee is responsible for 
coordinating interagency activities, unifying public messaging, ensuring all public 
diplomacy resources are supporting the messages, and ensuring every agency gives 
public diplomacy a high priority. 

Under Secretary of State for Public Diplomacy and Public Affairs Karen Hughes 
has moved forward with developing a unified strategic communications apparatus, 
but progress has been slow, and she will have to persevere in her efforts to corral 
the disparate efforts. Hughes’ office has also had some success in boosting the role 
of public diplomacy in our overall diplomatic and security policies, but this also has 
proven to be a bureaucratic challenge. 

The most notable progress in developing unified messaging efforts has been in the 
establishment of a rapid response team that follows newscasts around the world and 
offers talking points on breaking international news to rebut negative media stories 
about the U.S. in the Muslim world. The State Department has also tasked 15 over-
seas posts to develop country-specific communications plans to better focus efforts 
to counter terrorist ideology. 
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Funding for public diplomacy is increasing, and will likely continue to do so as 
we ramp up public outreach, foreign exchange, and scholarship programs, as well 
as public diplomacy training for State Department officers. The State Department 
requested almost $1 billion for public diplomacy efforts around the world for fiscal 
year 2008 and increased public diplomacy spending in the last two years in key re-
gions like the Middle East (25 percent) and in South Asia (nearly 40 percent).7 The 
State Department has also revived the Fulbright Scholarship Program, but experts 
say it will take time to re-establish its effectiveness, since it had been so grossly 
under-funded throughout the 1990s. The State Department created the Global Cul-
tural Initiative last year to coordinate all government-backed art, music, and lit-
erature programs abroad and increased the number of participants in State Depart-
ment educational and cultural programs to nearly 39,000 this year.8 

In early January of this year, the State Department held a major conference with 
over 150 participants, including senior U.S. executives, to discuss how American 
companies can help improve the U.S. image abroad. The conference represents a sig-
nificant step in meeting a key recommendation raised by the General Accounting 
Office in May, 2006, which called on the Secretary of State to develop a strategy 
to promote the active engagement of the private sector beyond international ex-
changes.9 The conference included intensive breakout sessions to generate specific 
ideas on how the U.S. private sector can get involved in public diplomacy. Rec-
ommendations for U.S. businesses with operations overseas included making public 
diplomacy actions a corporate officer’s responsibility; becoming part of the local com-
munity through employee volunteerism; greater engagement with responsible non-
governmental organizations (NGOs); and creating ‘‘circles of influence’’ through rela-
tionships with organizations, chambers of commerce, journalists, and local business 
leaders.10 

During the conference, James E. Murphy, Chief Marketing and Communications 
Officer of Accenture, reported that U.S. private giving to developing countries ex-
ceeds $70 billion annually. This includes gifts from foundations, corporations, pri-
vate organizations, and individuals. Most of the world is unaware that Americans 
are providing this level of private and corporate giving to developing countries. 

One example of effective private-public partnership to address the most pressing 
international problems is the U.S. corporate response to the devastating South Asia 
earthquake on October 8, 2005. Shortly after the earthquake—which killed over 
74,000 people and displaced tens of thousands—U.S. private sector executives from 
GE, UPS, Pzifer, Xerox, and Citigroup agreed to lead a nationwide effort to raise 
awareness and resources to help survivors of the earthquake rebuild their lives and 
communities. The group has raised over $100 million for the earthquake victims. 

The State Department’s recent establishment of the Office of Private Sector Out-
reach to engage and work with businesses, universities, and foundations on public 
diplomacy issues should also help to identify opportunities and implement various 
projects that foster cooperation between the U.S. public and private sectors in their 
overseas missions. 
Expanding U.S. Soft Power 

While strategic communication is an important element in influencing foreign 
populations’ opinions of America, it is equally important to promote deeper, more 
frequent cultural engagement, people-to-people exchanges, and targeted develop-
ment assistance programs to assert America’s soft power. In a recent Washington 
Post op-ed, Homeland Security Secretary Michael Chertoff said it well:

Moreover, this war cannot be won by arms alone; ‘‘soft’’ power matters. In 
these ways, our current struggle resembles the Cold War. As with the Cold 
War, we must respond globally. As with the Cold War, ideas matter as much 
as armaments. And as with the Cold War, this war requires our patience and 
resolve.

The U.S. Agency for International Development (USAID) has become more in-
volved in public diplomacy after the 9/11 Commission reported to Congress that 
some of the largest recipients of U.S. foreign aid had very strong anti-American sen-
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timent among their populations. Establishing a State-USAID Policy Council and a 
Public Diplomacy Working Group has helped USAID to establish closer ties with the 
Department of State to publicize America’s humanitarian and development aid ini-
tiatives. 

The U.S. response to the South Asia earthquake in the fall of 2005 and its posi-
tive impact on Pakistani attitudes toward the U.S. demonstrates that humanitarian 
assistance can influence popular views of America. I visited Pakistan to attend the 
International Donors’ Conference on November 19, 2005, as a staffer for the Senate 
Foreign Relations Committee and saw first-hand the change in the Pakistani popu-
lation’s views of the U.S. because of our rapid and robust humanitarian response 
to this monumental disaster. Even our harshest critics admitted that America had 
come through for Pakistan at its greatest hour of need. The U.S. Chinook heli-
copters that rescued survivors and ferried food and shelter materials to the affected 
areas became a symbol of America’s helping hand. 

The U.S. response was well-coordinated among the State Department, Depart-
ment of Defense (DOD), and USAID. DOD established mobile medical units in re-
mote areas of the Northwest Frontier Province and makeshift schools in the badly 
affected capital of Azad Kashmir, giving the Pakistanis a new perspective on the 
U.S. military and demonstrating U.S. interest in the well-being of the Pakistani peo-
ple. 

Polling shows that U.S. earthquake relief efforts doubled the percentage of Paki-
stanis with favorable views of the U.S. from 23 percent to 46 percent from May 2005 
to November 2005. This figure had dropped to 27 percent by 2006, however. Simi-
larly, the U.S. response to the tsunami disaster had a positive impact on public 
opinion of America in Indonesia. Favorable views of the U.S. went from 15 percent 
to 38 percent. The point is that providing humanitarian assistance is not only an 
act of goodwill, it can reflect positively on the U.S. image in the region where people 
are benefiting from the aid. 

Engaging with civil society and local religious leaders on issues such as human 
rights, political and economic reform, and religion in society also will help build 
greater understanding and help defeat misperceptions of the U.S. Twelve years ago 
as a Political Officer serving at the U.S. Embassy in Islamabad, I participated in 
a USIA-sponsored program to bring together female U.S.-based Islamic scholars and 
Pakistani female lawyers, human rights workers, and NGO leaders to discuss the 
role of women in Islam. I felt then—and even more so now—that it was one of the 
more worthwhile activities I was involved in as a diplomat. The U.S. has an impor-
tant role to play in facilitating these kinds of open exchanges and in supporting 
human rights, democracy, and economic development at the grassroots level. The 
State Department should encourage officers’ initiation and participation in such pro-
grams on a broad scale. 
Recent Polling 

We clearly have our work cut out for us. Recent polls tell us that opinions of 
America have declined markedly—to all-time lows in some countries—over the last 
few years. Some of these polls have revealed additional information for consider-
ation. Recent polling on views of the U.S. role in the world released by the Chicago 
Council on Global Affairs, for example, shows that most countries reject the idea of 
the U.S. as pre-eminent world leader; however, majorities in these countries still 
want the U.S. to participate in international efforts to address world problems. At 
the same time, this poll showed that many publics view their country’s relations 
with the U.S. as improving. 

A recent Gallup World Poll, ‘‘How Citizens of the U.S. and Predominantly Muslim 
Nations View Each Other,’’ shows that Muslims generally admire the West for its 
advanced technology and democracy and admire their own societies for their respect 
for Islam and its teachings and their own family values. In January 2007, 57 per-
cent of Americans reported ‘‘not knowing much’’ or ‘‘nothing’’ about Islam. Although 
perhaps not the role of the State Department, it seems clear that we as a nation 
need to learn more about the Muslim faith and get to know and respect its tradi-
tions and practices. The Gallup World Poll also concluded that Muslims and Ameri-
cans generally agreed on the need to control extremism. The polling shows that not 
only do we need to think about the messages we are sending to the Muslim world, 
we also need to search for practical ways to engage with it and to build upon our 
shared values. 
Moving Forward 

The worldwide polls revealing declining support for America are discouraging. But 
polls change. And with the right public diplomacy strategies and with perseverance, 
ingenuity, and decisiveness in asserting U.S. soft power, the U.S. can begin to win 
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support from moderate Muslims. Our message needs to be unified and consistent 
with our actions or it will not be credible. To improve U.S. public diplomacy, we 
should:

• Continue to raise the status of public diplomacy as a key element in fighting 
Islamic extremism and protecting U.S. national security. Under Secretary 
Hughes has made progress on this front by empowering Ambassadors to 
speak more frequently to the media and by including public diplomacy as a 
key job element in senior State Department officers’ evaluations. There has 
been resistance within the State Department bureaucracy to having officers 
spend more time on public diplomacy activities, which has led some outside 
experts to conclude that a separate public diplomacy entity like USIA needs 
to be re-established. Given Under Secretary Hughes’ steady progress in rais-
ing the mission of public diplomacy at the State Department, it may be too 
early to make a decision in this regard. The transformation of the State De-
partment may take some time, but in the end, it may be more beneficial to 
have a large corps of public diplomacy-savvy diplomats and an integration of 
U.S. foreign policy and strategic communication.

• More clearly link the mission of USAID and the role of development and hu-
manitarian assistance to core national security objectives and ensure close co-
ordination between USAID and State Department on programming for aid 
projects. The bureaucratic stove piping of resources has often made us our 
own worst enemy. The establishment of a new Director for U.S. Foreign As-
sistance at the State Department and new initiatives to address the lack of 
strategic focus in our assistance programs are steps in the right direction. 
This bureaucratic reorganization should strengthen, not diminish, the role of 
U.S. assistance in foreign policy. While officials in Washington will set the aid 
priorities, they should incorporate input from USAID staff that possess de-
tailed knowledge and insight into civil society in recipient countries. If we are 
trying to reach out to these communities and build support for American val-
ues and policies, we will have to break down bureaucratic barriers that in-
hibit efficient communication and operational cooperation between the State 
Department and USAID. As we seek to promote democratic and economic re-
form, USAID should play a prominent role in the planning and implementa-
tion of projects aimed at reaching all levels of society.

• Consider establishing a semi-governmental entity to conduct public opinion re-
search in individual countries to allow us to tailor our messages to different 
audiences and to give U.S. public diplomacy efforts a solid factual foundation. 
The Intelligence and Research Bureau of the State Department has conducted 
limited public polling and there are several credible non-government entities 
like Zogby International, the Pew Research Center, and 
WorldPublicOpinion.org that conduct international polls on a regular basis. 
However, it would be useful to have a semi-governmental agency that would 
be responsive to government tasking and whose staff could interact closely 
with government officials.

• Re-establish the once-popular American libraries in city centers to supplement 
our efforts to reach people through the internet and electronic media and rein-
vigorate the book translation program. Foreign interlocutors have emphasized 
their positive experiences visiting the libraries in the past and the strong im-
pression these experiences left with them about America. Libraries could help 
reach audiences that do not have access to the internet and offer a traditional 
forum for reaching out to the local population. The Bush Administration 
should also revive USIA’s once-robust book translation program, which now 
operates sporadically and mostly in Spanish. Expanded offerings on U.S. his-
tory, economics, and culture should be directed at essential target audiences 
in Arabic, Urdu, Hindi, Russian, and Chinese and involve private foundations 
and industry in donating and distributing materials.

• Revitalize U.S. international broadcasting leadership and recommit resources 
and funding to Voice of America. Members of the Broadcasting Board of Gov-
ernors (BBG) have at times been inefficient in their decision-making and fo-
cused more on their own pet projects instead of providing policy guidance to 
staff directors. Congress should consider making the BBG more of an advisory 
body and granting executive power to a chairman who would be responsible 
for strategic planning and implementation of international broadcasting pro-
grams. Although the BBG increased America’s presence over Arab airwaves 
by creating Radio Sawa and Al-Hurra TV, it did so by taking resources from 
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the Voice of America. As a result, U.S. programming in South Asia, Africa, 
and Latin America now lacks content, lively discussion, and airtime.

If we are to isolate and defeat the extremists’ hateful and totalitarian ideologies, 
we will need to focus more U.S. foreign policy attention and resources on soft power 
strategies that seek to win support from moderate Muslims worldwide. Right now 
the score is not in our favor. However, with a sustained and focused strategy, and 
with some patience and perseverance, we should begin to see the fruits of our labor 
in the years to come.

Mr. DELAHUNT. Let me just note the excellent presentations that 
both witnesses made. 

I want to first compliment Mr. Ford and his team from the Gov-
ernment Accountability Office for a thoughtful and thorough anal-
ysis of what the problems are and what has to be addressed, and 
let me also note for the record that the GAO took notice of the ef-
forts that were made by the Department of State and that some 
progress has been made, and I think that is important because I 
want to, for the record, indicate that we are aware that the Depart-
ment of State is making an effort, and I guess the question facing 
Members of Congress is how can we assist them to continue to ad-
dress the problems as enumerated in the GAO report. 

I would commend this report as necessary reading for everyone 
who is concerned about American foreign policy. You know, often-
times, reports such as this particular report go unnoticed. It is the 
subject of one hearing. There are recommendations, but most im-
portantly, it gives us data to reflect on so that we, those who have 
to make decisions, policy decisions, can move forward. 

Ms. Curtis, I have to tell you, not frequently, do I find myself in 
almost total agreement with somebody from the American Heritage 
Foundation, but your testimony, probably because it echoes what 
my own opinions are, is right on the mark; your recommendations 
are, I think, very worthy of serious consideration, and I am sure 
that members of the committee will review both of your written 
testimonies and take note, and hopefully at some point in time, 
there will be an action plan based upon the GAO analysis and your 
recommendations. 

Before I call on my vice chairman and friend from Missouri, Mr. 
Carnahan, let me note that, as I mentioned, our ranking member, 
Mr. Rohrabacher, is unable to attend today’s hearing. 

Mr. Carnahan. 
Mr. CARNAHAN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
This has really been, to me, an enlightening and fascinating se-

ries of hearings that I hope we can learn something from, but I 
guess it is startling to me—and I guess, if I could summarize the 
way I have digested these hearings, you know, it appears that back 
in the 1990s, we had fairly high levels of support around the world, 
but we have seen recently, even from our neighbors—Canada and 
Mexico—where those support levels have flipped to be negative. 
Our traditional allies in Europe, again, switched to be negative, 
particularly in the Middle East. 

With regard to the polling, when you dig into it, besides the 
numbers changing to be at historic low levels of opinion about the 
United States, there still seems to be a reservoir of good feeling to-
ward Americans as people, and there tends to be a reservoir of 
good feeling about America’s values as they perceive them. 
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Where the disconnect, I think, seems to be is where the percep-
tion is that perhaps we are being hypocritical in not following those 
values. There is a perception out there that, perhaps, we have 
acted too unilaterally in some of our foreign policy activities versus 
being perceived as engaging more cooperatively or jointly. There is 
widespread concern about reports of torture and secret prisons and 
not standing up for human rights and following the Geneva Con-
vention or the rule of law, and those are the kinds of things that—
when they see that disconnect between what people perceive as 
American values that we are not following, I think that really 
drives down what they think of us. 

So, I guess, to put this in the form of a question, that is kind 
of the way I perceived a lot of this information, but I guess my 
question would be: Is public diplomacy alone sufficient to really ad-
dress this or are some of these perceptions around the world really 
just going to drown out a lot of the good actions that we are tak-
ing? That is my first question. 

Secondly, I would like to get your comment on the success of 
some of our allies and things that they have done in conducting 
public diplomacy that we might learn from, best practices, if you 
will, in terms of things we can learn and to improve upon what we 
are doing. 

Mr. FORD. If I could comment, I will try to comment on both of 
your questions. 

Let me begin with, to the extent we can comment on whether 
public diplomacy by itself can change global opinions, clearly, we 
have not done the research to draw that necessary causal relation-
ship, but we do believe, from the body of work we have done that 
the public diplomacy activities that our Government does employ 
overseas to the extent that they are well thought out, they are tar-
geted at an audience that we want to try to influence in some man-
ner. To the extent we do a good job of that, we have a better oppor-
tunity to potentially change people’s attitudes. 

I think there is another issue related to changing behavior which 
is different than changing someone’s opinion. You mentioned what 
our allies have done, and although we have not studied U.S. allies 
in any depth, we have had several meetings with, for example, the 
Brits, regarding some activities that they have been involved in in 
public diplomacy, and one of the things they are attempting to do 
with their public diplomacy activities is focus on trying to influence 
behavior on the part of the countries and populations that they are 
concerned about. 

I believe our efforts, at least from a strategic point of view, do 
not specifically mention trying to change behavior. They really 
focus more on attitudes, but I think it is something that is defi-
nitely worth having a discussion about, and I think that, certainly, 
the State Department should be—to the extent they have not al-
ready, they should be talking to our allies about some of the con-
cepts they have, because we want to do something that is going to 
make a difference, and at this point, it is hard to see from the polls 
that we are making that much of an inroad in terms of changing 
negative perceptions. 

Ms. CURTIS. Thank you. 
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I think I would look at it slightly differently in that we have to 
confront those elements who are trying to harm us. 9/11 changed 
everything in that regard, and I think that requires us to redouble 
our efforts on public diplomacy exchanges, foreign assistance, all of 
those soft power elements that I mentioned in my testimony. So I 
think the polls are devastating. We obviously do not like what we 
are seeing in terms of world opinion of us, but we cannot allow our 
policies to be driven by these polls either, because we do have ex-
tremist elements that our public diplomacy efforts could never 
reach. Frankly, they will be targeting us no matter what, and so 
we have to deal with those elements in a certain way. 

I just want to give one example on that front, and I talked about 
Pakistan and how our earthquake relief really had a tremendous 
impact on views of America. However, 3 months later, in January 
2006, there was a strike on the Pakistan border areas against al-
Zawahiri. Unfortunately, the overall attack was not successful in 
getting the target, and it did have a negative blowback on the Pak-
istani population, and some of the figures in terms of the goodwill 
that was built up by the earthquake relief dissipated. So it is a 
challenge. I am not going to say it is not a challenge, but I think 
it is just a call for us to redouble our efforts to show this is not 
a war against Islam for sure. This is a war to protect national secu-
rity interests of the U.S. and to prevent the next 9/11. 

In terms of allies and best practices, I will just note that I know 
the Germans have their private organizations—their public-private 
organizations—that are deployed overseas that focus on human 
rights. They have a lot of dialogue. I remember, from my time in 
Pakistan, being fairly impressed with some of their foundations 
that they have that were engaging seriously on human rights 
issues. So perhaps we have something that we can gain in that re-
spect. 

Of course, not an ally, but if you look at China and what it is 
doing across the world, particularly in Africa, it is just very much 
engaging, and I think you even see this in areas like Southeast 
Asia where we are hearing from countries in Southeast Asia that 
the Chinese are just much more prevalent, much more available, 
you know, even for meetings in conducting diplomacy and just en-
gaging in general. So I think we can do a lot more just in terms 
of sending diplomats—senior diplomats—and engaging in these 
areas. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Would the gentleman yield? 
Because there are only two of us here, we can make this a much 

more informal format, and I think Mr. Carnahan and I can benefit 
from your expertise. 

You mentioned China, and you know, I do not want to call them 
an adversary, but clearly, there is a competitive relationship be-
tween the United States and China. Several weeks ago, there was 
an article that appeared in Newsweek that I found particularly illu-
minating in terms of what the Chinese are doing, and what I really 
appreciated about your testimony, Ms. Curtis, is that the focus is 
on engagement. That soft power is so critical, not just simply to put 
us in a position to avoid violence but to further our own national 
interests whether they be commercial, cultural and specifically se-
curity. We find ourselves in a rather difficult position now where 
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our European allies are having passionate debates about whether 
to cooperate with the United States, whether it is anti-missile de-
fense or whether it is the extension of leases for military bases. I 
do not want to get into a discussion about those, but what I see 
happening—and I will try to elicit a response from both of you—
is that, with popular support eroding, particularly among democ-
racies, what we find is that the support that we need in terms of 
dealing with terrorism is at risk. Yet, here we find the Chinese all 
over the planet. Just let me read—and I am going to ask that this 
be entered into the record, this particular article in the April 9th, 
2007 edition of Newsweek. I think it is entitled ‘‘Beijing’s Big 
Charm Offensive’’:

‘‘Ordinary people across the planet now view China more 
warmly than they do the United States. Polls taken by the Pro-
gram on International Policy Attitudes and the BBC show that 
the majorities of people in most countries today consider China 
to be a more positive influence and less of a threat to inter-
national peace than the United States.’’

I mean, can one imagine those findings 10, 15, 20, 25 years ago? 
The world has changed, and I dare say that it does put at risk our 
commercial opportunities, particularly when one thinks of China:

‘‘To get a feel for the new agenda, consider foreign aid. A re-
cent study by the World Bank found that China will soon be-
come the largest lender to African countries. Last year, it 
granted such states at least $8 billion, more than double what 
the United States had provided in 2004, the most recent data 
that we have available. Beijing is already reaping the benefit 
of this attitudinal change in traditional high-power terms.’’

I agree with you. We do not craft our policy initiatives simply be-
cause of polling data, but if we are not aware of them, then we are 
operating in the blind, if you will, and we can make mistakes, and 
I think it is really critical to be aware of world opinion vis-a-vis our 
policies. 

Consider this about China: This summer, it plans to hold joint 
military exercises with a number of Southeast Asian nations, co-
operation once unthinkable for United States allies, such as Thai-
land and the Philippines, a direct result of Beijing’s charm cam-
paign. I mean, this is a fascinating article, and I will presume that 
it is valid, but I think it underscores our need to examine the anal-
ysis by the GAO and to take appropriate measures. 

There is one other thing that I know that Mr. Carnahan is inter-
ested in, and I am going to try to find it here.

‘‘Beijing is also taking advantage of Washington’s tightening 
of visa restrictions on foreign students since 9/11, which have 
thinned their numbers. China plans to establish 100 Confucius 
institutes, Chinese language and cultural programs of foreign 
universities over the next decade. In December, the Chinese 
leader promised that China would train some 15,000 African 
professionals over the next 3 years and announce there are 
4,000 scholarships for Africans to study in China.’’

Mr. Carnahan. 
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If my comments elicit any further response from either one of 
you, feel free. We will just have a conversation up here. 

Mr. CARNAHAN. Before we do that, with your indulgence, I will 
just sort of tack onto that. 

The chairman and I were at a conference recently with some 
German members of Parliament, and to really, I guess, put the 
icing on the cake here, there was a poll that came out during that 
time period, among German citizens, that they viewed the United 
States as a bigger threat to their security than Iran. As the chair-
man mentioned, some of the highest officials in the country ex-
pressed some frustration with wanting to engage with the U.S. on 
a number of different issues, but because of the backlash with their 
constituents as to how unpopular the U.S. was now, it made those 
things very difficult. 

So we have seen really practical impacts at the governmental 
level, but also, I think that spills over into the economic, military, 
security interest. So I just wanted to add that on, but that is a very 
practical side of that that we saw just a few weeks ago. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. If my friend would yield—and again, staff just 
provided me this particular data. 

While Africa is providing scholarships for 4,000 students, the 
United States’ funding for fellowships and grants to foreign stu-
dents worldwide is 3,000—3,000. I mean—and I am not trying to 
assess the blame, and I do not think Mr. Carnahan is, on any par-
ticular administration. I just think it is time for a real thoughtful 
analysis of where we are going and whom we are going to be able 
to influence in a positive way. I mean, we are spending $9 billion 
or $10 billion a month in Iraq and Afghanistan. Just imagine what 
we could do in terms of influencing future leaders, both among the 
political elite in foreign countries as well as in the business world. 

That was one of your recommendations, Ms. Curtis, and I think 
that we ought to seriously consider taking a hard look and maybe 
asking the GAO to assist us in taking a look at the various pro-
grams that currently exist in terms of attracting foreigners to come 
to this country to study, to learn the real American values and to 
go back and be our ambassadors or our interlocutors with their 
own native populations. 

Ms. Curtis. 
Ms. CURTIS. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. 
I think your last point is absolutely correct, and I think part of 

the problem has been with the visa process and some of the prob-
lems that foreigners have had when they have traveled to the U.S., 
and unfortunately, some of these problems have happened to very 
senior leaders, so we are hearing that people are deterred from 
traveling to the U.S., and I think this is one reason why we need 
to expand the visa waiver program. As you know, there are about 
27 countries that are part of this, but we should figure out ways 
to expand the program to other countries—South Korea, Chile, 
India—just to name a few countries. This is something that we at 
the Heritage Foundation feel is very important, so we would be 
very supportive of any efforts to work toward expanding the visa 
waiver program, because we do believe that this program actually 
raises the bar in terms of other countries’ visa programs and, 
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therefore, makes travel safer for everyone, but it also is a public 
diplomacy issue, as you say. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Well, again, Mr. Carnahan alluded to the ex-
change that we recently had with members of the German Bundes-
tag and other public officials and private citizens in Germany, and 
they were pleading with us to expand the visa waiver program to 
all E.U. countries because it was particularly embarrassing to them 
and had become quite controversial that some European countries 
that were part of the European Union, for some reason, would not 
qualify under the visa waiver program, and I think that is an im-
portant statement. 

Mr. Ford, can you amplify? 
Mr. FORD. Well, I can talk a little bit about the visa waiver pro-

gram based on some work we did last year, but it focused on the 
security vulnerabilities in that program, which is a little bit con-
trary to the direction that you are headed. 

My view is, based on the work we did last year, if we are going 
to expand the program, we need to close some security gaps we 
have currently, in the current program that we have, which is with 
the members we have now. So, you know, in that work we did last 
year, we had several reports—excuse me—recommendations to the 
Department of Homeland Security to close those gaps, and if they 
have done so, then the concerns we have reported on——

Mr. DELAHUNT. But then I think it is important—and you know, 
I have no doubt because, as Ms. Curtis indicated, it is necessary 
that we take whatever actions are appropriate to protect ourselves, 
but I find myself getting very frustrated when, for several years 
now, the other committee that I serve on—Judiciary—which has ju-
risdiction over immigration, continues to press the Department for 
engagement with these nations about working out a compatible bio-
metrics passport, and nothing is happening. 

Yet, in the meantime, we are hearing this polling data coming 
in. We had a hearing just recently that indicated a sharp decline 
in the number of overseas visitors coming to our country that 
amounted in a single year to the loss of $43 billion to the American 
economy. It just does not make sense. We are not utilizing our re-
sources in an effective and efficient way. 

I would be interested if the GAO would take a good look at those 
programs dealing with foreign students’ coming to this country. It 
is tough to put your arms around it, so to speak. It does not appear 
to be centrally located. 

Is there data that is available to tell us how many slots there 
are? What is the amount of funding that is available to support 
these kinds of programs? 

I think that would be very useful. I think that there are some 
of us who are willing to take a rather significant initiative in ex-
panding them to a magnitude which would really, I believe, make 
a huge impact not only now, but far into the future. I mean I be-
lieve these are kind of the soft power aspects of foreign policy that, 
hopefully, will allow us to avoid the exercise of hard power, which 
certainly, in the end, does not accrue to our long-term benefit. 

Well, let me go on with a series of other questions here. 
Mr. Ford, I was dismayed by the finding in the report that over 

one-third of public diplomacy positions in the Arabic-speaking na-
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tions were filled by Foreign Service officers who did not have the 
requisite language skills. 

Has State made progress in terms of filling those needs, and if 
they have not, what steps are planned? What, if you know, would 
be the amount of dollars that would be necessary to ensure that, 
if we are going to do something about public diplomacy, we will 
have a people who have the basic skills necessary to communicate? 
Because public diplomacy is about communication. 

Mr. FORD. What I can say is we know that the Department 
stepped up its training efforts to expand language capabilities for 
their officers. What we do not know is whether they have fully im-
plemented some other suggestions we made to them, based on a re-
port we did last spring, that suggested that they needed to take a 
hard look at their recruiting efforts, to look at the kind of people 
that they recruit, that they recruit the people who already may 
have the requisite skills in the hard languages, and the hard lan-
guages that we reported in our report were Arabic, Chinese, Urdu, 
and Farsi. 

In terms of whether they have been able to close the gap from 
last summer, we have not seen any of the most recent data from 
them, so I cannot answer that question directly in terms of wheth-
er or not, as to the total number of officers who have met the re-
quirement, that gap has closed or not, but I can say that they have 
stepped up training, and they have indicated to us that——

Mr. DELAHUNT. Is it a problem of funding? 
Mr. FORD. Well——
Mr. DELAHUNT. Are there sufficient resources being devoted to 

this, but it is an absorption issue? 
Mr. FORD. Well, I do not know the answer to that to answer that 

directly. I mean, the State Department has asked for an increase 
in its budget for 2008. They have asked for an increase in the pub-
lic diplomacy budget. I believe they are asking for another $200 
million above this year’s level, but I do not know to what extent 
those monies will be used to close the gap with regard to foreign 
language. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Let me ask you just a procedural question as far 
as the GAO is concerned. 

Once you conclude a report, in terms of the follow-up, is there an 
ongoing communication between you and, in this case, the Depart-
ment of State to ensure that there is some progress being made as 
far as your recommendations are concerned? 

Mr. FORD. Yes, sir, there is. 
What we do is, about every 6 months, we follow up with the 

agencies we make recommendations to, and we try to find out 
whether they have actually implemented them. We have a process 
in GAO where we track that. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Do you communicate that—when it is at the re-
quest of, say, a Member of Congress—to our staff, to our congres-
sional staff? 

Mr. FORD. We can share that information with you. Sure. No 
problem. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. I would think it is a good practice to commu-
nicate it back to that Member or to the congressional staff if that 
is where the request came from. 
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Mr. FORD. Yes. Actually, the way the process works is, when we 
make a recommendation to an executive branch agency, they are 
required, within 60 days, to notify Congress of what action they are 
taking. So they should be formally telling Congress, first of all, 
what action they are going to take. 

For us, however, we want to see whether the action actually does 
occur because, in many cases, they say, ‘‘We are going to do some-
thing. We have not actually completed it.’’ So we usually do not 
close our recommendations until we have some affirmation and val-
idation that they have actually taken the action. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Ms. Curtis, any observations? 
Ms. CURTIS. Yes. Mine is a little bit different but slightly related, 

and I made this recommendation in my written testimony about 
expanding our book translation program. This used to be a huge 
program, but my understanding is that it is not receiving the fund-
ing that it should be, and it is just not being done, and these are 
books that show who America is, you know, the Constitution or any 
books that demonstrate who we are being translated into those key 
languages—Russian, Chinese, Arabic, Urdu, Farsi. This is some-
thing that, like I said, I recommended in the written testimony. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. In your testimony, you also referenced the now 
defunct USIA, and you recommended that we pause and monitor 
the new approach in terms of public diplomacy. You know, I am not 
really sold on the current structure, and again, this is no reflection 
on any individual—Secretary Hughes or anyone in the Depart-
ment—and maybe it is just too complex at this point in time and 
too fractured an approach for most people and, clearly, most Mem-
bers of Congress to be able to follow. 

You know, the old USIA—I lived in Europe in my distant youth, 
and it was a place where you could go; you could relax, and you 
could communicate with foreigners who came there. It just does not 
seem to be there anymore. 

Mr. Ford, you probably do not want to comment or——
Mr. FORD. Well, I cannot comment about whether we should cre-

ate another USIA, but I will say, based on our field work from the 
work we have done, that, you know, we are losing our presence in 
many countries overseas. As to our libraries, our American centers 
in a lot of countries, we have had to close those because of security 
or other reasons, and all of those were created under the old USIA 
mantra back in the 1990s, even before the 1990s. 

So there are certain—you know, in terms of engagement, we 
talked a little bit about our engagement overseas. We need to get 
our folks out of the Embassies and out and talking to the people 
we want to influence. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. But we have this catch 22 where we have secu-
rity concerns. 

Mr. FORD. It is an issue. It is an issue, and we know of cases 
where we just do not have a presence in parts of countries that we 
are trying to influence, but I mean, the State Department is trying 
to get around that by creating——

Mr. DELAHUNT. Corners? 
Mr. FORD. Yes, what they call ‘‘American corners,’’ which are 

small offices with Internet access and things like that, but there is 
a sentiment also that they should try to go back and find a way 
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to create some of the mechanisms that we had in the past—the li-
braries and things like that—because the information they have at 
State with regard to the impact of those organizations indicates 
that they all had a positive influence on the people who used them. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Yet, at the same time, the GAO report indicates 
that almost a fourth—I think it was 22 percent—of public diplo-
macy positions were vacant. 

Why? Did anyone offer an explanation as to why they were va-
cant? I do not know if you have had a chance to read the GAO re-
port, Ms. Curtis, but why would it be vacant? 

Ms. CURTIS. I am not sure about that. I had actually heard in 
some of my interviews with the State Department that more junior 
officers were interested in going into the public diplomacy cone. 
Now, I do not know if it is because of security reasons that some 
of these posts are not filled, and even though people want to be 
public diplomacy officers, perhaps because of family reasons, they 
cannot be posted somewhere that is dangerous or that does not 
allow families to also be in those posts. 

Yes, sir. You mentioned that, in my testimony, I do call for the 
reestablishment of the libraries. In my meetings with folks over-
seas, they mention this. They say, ‘‘Why don’t you have those li-
braries anymore?’’ I remember going in there, doing my studies, 
and you know, it had a very favorable impression on them, and so 
this is something that does come up, and that, I think, is missed. 

In terms of the reestablishment of USIA, I think there is a gen-
uine debate on this because public diplomacy efforts throughout the 
Government are so disparate, and there are so many different ef-
forts happening whether it be in the Department of Defense, 
USAID, the State Department. However, what I would say is, even 
though it has taken a long time—you know, there have been a lot 
of different iterations, and the Bush administration has tried many 
different forums to sort of bring these efforts together—I do think 
that and I have found in my research that we are getting there. 

I think Under Secretary Hughes has taken some good steps, and 
she is starting to get those elements together. It is not perfect; 
maybe it will never be perfect, but I think she has been able to 
take the kind of steps that are unifying our message. 

Another issue that came up in some of my interviews with the 
State Department was they are considering establishing—or I 
think they are going to establish a counterterrorism communication 
cell where they are going to bring in different elements, different 
analysts from different agencies so that we can think more care-
fully about our public response to events such as, say, an al-Qaeda 
message or a videotape or something. 

So I think these kinds of efforts are being taken, and they are 
being looked at very seriously, but change takes time, and so I 
think what we have to consider is do we want to separate out a 
whole other organization and then have that organization just be 
dealing with the problem or take the problem and make sure that 
everybody is more sensitized to it, provide the training that is nec-
essary, and have public diplomacy be a core part of the job as a 
diplomat. So I think that is the issue that we need to consider. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. And I think you framed the issue well. I am just 
not—you know, I will take some hope from your statement that the 
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trend at least is moving in the right direction, but I am very con-
flicted because, if you sit on the Foreign Affairs Committee, to try 
to put your arms around public diplomacy leads you on so many 
disparate roads that it is tough to get a comprehensive look. 

If we had a USIA today that was the core of a public diplomacy 
initiative and also had authority and oversight, if you will, of other 
executive branch agencies in terms of what they were doing in 
terms of public diplomacy and coordinating message, I think it 
would simplify it for those of us who do not deal with it every day, 
but have a responsibility to make decisions in terms of funding. I 
mean, I believe that it is so important. I have serious disagree-
ments on the policies, the foreign policies, of this administration. 
At the same time, I think that there is the potential to work 
around the edges in terms of enhancing our public diplomacy and 
communicating to the rest of the world that we are not really what 
they think we are at this particular moment in time, particularly 
when we have competitors out there—China being the most obvi-
ous example—and other nations. I think you or Mr. Carnahan al-
luded to what the Germans are doing. As we continue to decline, 
it is not just a question of popularity and feeling good. It is a ques-
tion of real legitimate national interests being jeopardized, but I 
think you framed it well. 

How do we address the security concerns? I mean, the idea of 
corners is fine. You know, when I think of a street corner, you 
know, I think of a poolroom or something, but we cannot send our 
diplomats there if we are going to put their personal safety at risk. 
I mean that is a significant conundrum that we have. Let me go 
back. 

You are confident about that—was it a 22–23 percent vacancy at 
the time you conducted your analysis——

Mr. FORD. That is the percentage. 
Mr. DELAHUNT [continuing]. That is vacant? 
Mr. FORD. I asked the State Department to update their vacan-

cies for this hearing, and they came back with that ‘‘22 percent’’ 
number. Now, when we reported it last summer, it was 15 percent, 
so it has gotten worse. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. That I find disturbing, and I can understand if 
there are concerns about personal safety and personal security, but 
you know, we can operate. We can add on, if you will, public diplo-
macy officers or Foreign Service officers whose primary responsi-
bility is public diplomacy elsewhere in the world. 

I mean, I think that Representative Carnahan alluded to the fact 
that this negative image of the United States is—we are talking 
today about the Islamic world, but Ms. Curtis, we had testimony 
here that we are in bad shape everywhere with the exception of 
sub-Saharan Africa. 

You know, John Zogby was here to testify about attitudes in 
Latin America. I mean, you know, there is an 82–83 percent dis-
approval rating for President Bush. Now, I say that not to take any 
solace in a partisan way, because it is impacting our Nation and 
our ability to deal in the world. So it is not just exclusive to the 
Islamic world. There are the numbers coming out of Europe, from 
the Brits, from the Canadians, even from my own ethnic group—
that is the Irish. We are in big trouble when we start to slip behind 
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China, you know, in Ireland. That is what is inexplicable to me, the 
22-percent vacancies, when we need to get out even in those na-
tions where there ought not to be a particular concern about per-
sonal safety. As everyone knows, there is no crime in Ireland. No. 

Any comment Ms. Curtis? 
Ms. CURTIS. No. I would just come back to the need for exchange 

programs that Congressman Carnahan had raised, and you know, 
I am a South Asia specialist, so I look at this in terms of the Mus-
lim world predominantly and what we need to be doing there in 
terms of countering the extremist elements but yet, reaching out to 
the moderate Muslim community. I thought it was very interesting. 

WorldOpinion.org just came out with a new poll that showed that 
the majority of populations in major Muslim countries like Paki-
stan, Indonesia and some others—that basically, large numbers did 
not support violence against Americans. However, they did support 
some of the goals of al-Qaeda. So this is something that we need 
to be looking at in terms of we do not want to lose those segments 
of the population, and we need to really focus on those segments 
of the population that we can still influence and build bridges with, 
but like I said, my focus is mainly on the Muslim world and South 
Asia. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Let me put another question to you because, last 
week, we had a very interesting, fascinating hearing regarding ren-
ditions, and the former chief of the bin Laden unit for the CIA, Dr. 
Scheuer, testified. It was interesting, and I had taken some time 
and read some of his opinions, and they are contrary to what we 
hear. 

What I am concerned about is—and I note it in your testimony, 
and I am trying to find it now, of course—‘‘while we may never 
change the minds of murderous terrorists who despise America and 
its democratic ideals.’’ I think that has become a mantra. If we say 
it often enough, it has some validity, and this is digressing a bit, 
but Dr. Scheuer would say that is hogwash, and here is what he 
had to say:

‘‘Americans’ bipartisan leaders fail to accept that we are at 
war with militant Islamists because of our policies in the Mus-
lim world, not because of what we think or what we believe.’’

In your experience in Asia, in the Islamic world, would you agree 
or disagree? He lists five policies that he suggests are the griev-
ances of Osama bin Laden in that extreme fundamentalist segment 
of the Islamic world—the presence of United States and Western 
troops on Arabia, the occupation of Afghanistan and Iraq, United 
States support of Israel and its indifference to the Pakistanis, 
maybe even Palestinians, United States support of nations that op-
press Muslims such as Russia, and political pressure on Arab 
states to keep oil prices low. 

His conclusion was they do not care about our values necessarily. 
It is about our policies. 

Ms. CURTIS. Well, I think in the testimony——
Mr. DELAHUNT. By the way, I want to be clear. He was the mi-

nority witness. He was the Republican witness, so this is——
Ms. CURTIS. But perhaps I did not make it clear. 
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What I had said in the testimony is that we are never going to 
convince certain elements. They are going to be anti-American no 
matter what, and I think probably—he is not here, so we cannot 
ask him, but I think Dr. Scheuer would probably agree with that, 
that al-Qaeda’s elements are not going to change their attitude. So 
our public diplomacy efforts are not geared toward them. They are 
geared toward the moderate Muslims who may disagree with some 
of our policies, and you gave a fairly long list of some of those poli-
cies. 

But as I mentioned earlier, I think we need to redouble our pub-
lic diplomacy efforts, and I do think it will help over the longer 
term. I want to point out also that—you know, you talked about 
the different policies. Al-Qaeda has attacked President Musharraf, 
the President of Pakistan. We may not see eye to eye with Presi-
dent Musharraf on all issues. Certainly, he has not been straight-
forward about some of those issues, Arab-Israeli, et cetera, but it 
shows that there is not a whole lot of rhyme or reason, and they 
are willing to attack, conduct horrific acts that—you know, we are 
not going to change some of those people. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. And I do not want to digress too much. I want 
to be fair to you because you did not come here to testify on this, 
but since you have expertise in the area and you talked about, you 
know, President Musharraf, his response would be we support tyr-
annies in the Middle East, despots in the Middle East, and I have 
no doubt that he would incorporate the Musharraf government as 
a nondemocratic government, one that only responds to violence 
and force in terms of treating its citizens in a way that is accept-
able, if you will, to that fundamentalis Islamist group. Bin Laden’s 
understanding would be, you know, let the Americans have their 
freedoms, we do not care, but we do not want them to impose their 
policies on us. That was his position. I am not saying it is my posi-
tion. 

But I am going back again, and I am sure that that represents 
a tiny fraction of the Muslim population clearly, but you men-
tioned, and it is really what provoked this conversation that we are 
having, a poll that was done, I think, by Mr. Kull that you just ref-
erenced. It said that, while they abhor violence, they tend to agree 
with al-Qaeda, and if al-Qaeda is articulating their disagreement 
with American policies, I would think that what we need in terms 
of public diplomacy is a full explanation of those policies. 

For example, Israel is a democracy, and we align ourselves with 
Israel, because we share democratic values; we respect diversity in 
religion, and we believe that no people, no race should be pros-
ecuted or persecuted because of adherence to a particular religion, 
in this case, Judaism. 

I mean, I guess what I am saying is, when we talk about mes-
sage, we have got to make sure that we are responding to those 
who would do us harm or to those who would disagree with us in 
a way that understands what their logic might be in terms of their 
relationship with the United States and with the West. 

Ms. CURTIS. I think you are right, and I talked about the need 
to reassure the Muslim world that we are conducting some of these 
operations—I will talk again about the attack on al-Zawahiri’s 
hideout in the Pakistan border areas—not because we are against 
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Islam as a religion, but we are trying to protect our own national 
security, and it seems evident to us, but clearly, based on these re-
cent polls, for some reason, it is not being understood in the region, 
and I am sure there are a variety of reasons for that, but I think 
we probably could do more to demonstrate over and over at dif-
ferent levels that we are taking these actions to protect our own 
national security. We have no problem with the Islam religion, 
itself, but it is about protecting Americans. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. I agree. 
Mr. FORD. Yes, I would like to comment if I could. 
Mr. DELAHUNT. Sure. 
Mr. FORD. The comment I would like to make has to do with hav-

ing a good understanding of who you are trying to influence, and 
one of the issues that we have seen in our work is the extent to 
which we are doing in-depth research in the populations that we 
are trying to influence and have an understanding of where they 
are coming from. 

Most of the experts who we have talked to indicate that we have 
a tendency to express our values and ideals from our perspective 
and with no real in-depth understanding of where others are com-
ing from, and many of the experts we have talked to indicate you 
need to know that. You need to know where others are coming 
from if you want to come up with a better approach on how to deal 
with them and how to try to have a common ground, a common un-
derstanding. I think one of the issues here is whether or not our 
Government is devoting enough research in this area to really have 
that understanding. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Well, I think that is an excellent, excellent point 
and that is maybe what I was trying to express to Ms. Curtis ear-
lier. I mean, we have got to understand al-Qaeda, and we cannot 
just—we all do it. We all fall in the trap of ‘‘they despise our val-
ues.’’ I mean, I hear the President say ‘‘they hate us because of our 
values.’’ Well, that is not what these polls reflect. I mean, the polls 
reflect, I think in some respects, that they respect our values. I 
daresay most of the world admires what we say we stand for, but 
they are disappointed because—as it is, I would suggest—we often 
fail to meet our own standards, and that creates a certain level of 
hypocrisy. We talked about terrorism. Yet, today, in Miami, there 
is a man who is walking free who allegedly, according to our own 
information, is a violent terrorist and most likely was involved in 
the bombing of a Cuban airliner back in 1976. 

What does the world think of us when we talk about terrorism 
and the need to deal with it in a way that protects us, and yet, the 
perception is we are protecting that individual because he is an ar-
dent foe of Fidel Castro? 

We stand for the principle whether we like the individual or not. 
I mean, we talked about the rule of law, and once we become incon-
sistent, we open ourselves to the charge of hypocrisy. I mean, I find 
that disturbing. 

I was unaware, just to again go to Ms. Curtis—and offer any 
comment that you want, Mr. Ford. I never realized that the Ful-
bright scholarship program had dissipated, but in your statement, 
you say, ‘‘The State Department has also revived the Fulbright 
scholarship program, but experts say it will take time to reestab-
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lish its effectiveness since it has been so grossly underfunded 
through the 1990s.’’

Can you expand on that? 
Ms. CURTIS. Well, I think, just to emphasize the point, yes, it is 

getting revitalized, and that is very positive, but we are going to 
have to continue to move forward in that revitalization effort be-
cause it is such an important part of public diplomacy efforts. 

So, again, I think it is just making sure that our public diplo-
macy efforts have the resources, the funding that they need, the 
encouragement from Congress as well as others in order to con-
tinue to move forward and to empower public diplomacy, which for 
a long time was given the shaft. People did not see the importance 
of it, I think, throughout the 1990s. So, anything we can do to 
bring all of the programs back up and give them the prominence 
that they need and deserve in our foreign policy, I think that would 
be the point. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. I have requested the GAO and Mr. Ford to take 
a look at in a holistic way—and it does not really require, hope-
fully, an extended, exhaustive effort. 

What do we have in terms of programs, fellowships, scholarships 
to this country? 

Let me make the same request to you. I think it would be a won-
derful project for the American Heritage Foundation. For me, it is 
a priority. It is not necessarily, you know, chic. It will not produce 
immediate results, but I think it is something we can talk about. 
I think we can go around and talk about the fact that we are con-
cerned about foreign public opinion, and maybe we have made 
some mistakes. I mean I will note, in the 1990s, it was the Clinton 
administration. So I mean this is not an effort to launch any kind 
of partisan attack on the Bush administration. This is, I think, sep-
arate and distinct from the policies of each administration. Al-
though, public diplomacy ought to be a policy. It appears to be the 
offer, if you will, of American diplomacy. I think we are learning 
the hard way. 

The testimony of Mr. Ford I think was very telling. Everyone 
was telling us, you know, you are losing. You are losing opportuni-
ties. I know business is making decisions in terms of either—where 
they are going to relocate. 

You know, we hope to do a hearing on the issue of where stu-
dents are going. Because we are finally back to where they were—
it might be up 3 or 4 percent, but they are going a lot of other 
places—Canada, New Zealand, Australia, Britain, Europe—and in 
huge numbers, and we are going to lose——

And I think this is something that both Republicans and Demo-
crats are—the more we talk about it—I am hearing from my col-
leagues there is a legitimate concern, and it would be great if a re-
spected conservative foundation such as American Heritage would 
take this on. It would give us, I think, credibility. I think there is 
an opportunity at this particular moment to do something about 
this that really flows from your recommendation and from what we 
are learning from the analysis and the study by the GAO. 

I was really stunned, by the way, by your—I don’t know if you 
are aware of this, Mr. Ford, $70 billion from—annually that the 
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U.S. is giving to developing countries. I mean, how do we leverage 
that? 

Ms. CURTIS. If you and I are stunned by it, can you imagine—
the rest of the world doesn’t realize this much aid is being given 
by the American private sector. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. How do we brand that? Any ideas? 
Mr. FORD. That is a good question. We have looked at the U.S. 

effort to brand our assistance, not donations from the American 
people through whatever means they may donate them. But I can 
tell you, from the government’s perspective, we don’t have a con-
sistent policy in the way we publicize our foreign assistance; and, 
as a consequence of that, there are lots of missed opportunities out 
there as far as foreign publics even knowing that we are providing 
the assistance. 

And I am struck by—I think it was a report from a couple of 
years ago—where we went to Egypt where we have been providing 
over $1 billion every year for the last—since the Camp David Peace 
Accords, that someone in the Embassy told us that less than 15 
percent of the population even knows we give foreign aid money 
there. That is just for the government’s foreign assistance money. 
And the other $70 billion that the American citizens are sending 
overseas through their own means, I have no clue as to whether 
or not that is well known or not. I suspect it probably isn’t. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Any other examples other than Egypt? 
Mr. FORD. Well, that was the one that was most telling in terms 

of an actual case where they mentioned that. In our most recent 
work, we had a number of more detailed examples where we had 
provided a form of training or an education, rebuilding schools or 
something along those lines, and the local population wasn’t aware 
of it. 

Now where we have made a conscious effort to advertise our as-
sistance, such as when we assisted the tsunami aid in Indonesia 
in 2004, where our Government made a very conscious effort to 
publicize that, that had significant impact in terms of turning 
around a negative attitude toward America, at least in the short-
term. Now that has gone back a little bit. But our Government 
made a conscious effort to advertise through the media and lots of 
other means. There was a lot of publicity, a lot of visibility. The 
Indonesian population saw that, and it had a positive effect. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. I noted that. I noted that policy. 
Ms. Curtis, how do we take that $70 billion that American cor-

porations are providing and brand it? I mean, we are Madison Ave-
nue, but we are not doing a very good job in terms of commu-
nicating that. 

Ms. CURTIS. I think in some ways we are just waking up to this 
whole issue of not getting credit for some of the assistance that we 
are providing. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. The Chinese are doing a pretty good job. 
Ms. CURTIS. I think our Government is, you know, waking up to 

the issue; and I think the fact that the State Department held this 
public-private partnership meeting in January, which I understand 
was very well attended, that is a very good effort. One might argue 
we should have done this sooner——
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Mr. DELAHUNT. I don’t mean to interrupt, but you have got to 
implicate the Congress into this. And, to be perfectly honest, I have 
never met Secretary Hughes; and if you don’t have congressional 
support or at least awareness I don’t think it is going to be effec-
tive. Because you need the resources that I think Congress is pre-
pared to provide. 

And has organized labor been brought into this, Mr. Ford? 
Mr. FORD. I mean, again, we haven’t studied outside of our Gov-

ernment funds, but I would agree that we can do a better job of 
engaging overseas. And I will acknowledge the State Department 
has made an effort, not recently, to engage the private sector not 
only with the meetings they have had there but they set up an of-
fice there, a specific office just to do that, to engage with the pri-
vate sector and try to leverage them. And a lot of the experts that 
we talked to said this is something that is a long-standing thing 
that we should have been doing a long time ago. 

So I have to give them credit for now starting to do that. 
Ms. CURTIS. Getting back to the Pakistan earthquake relief ef-

forts, shortly after the earthquake, it was October 8th; and I think 
3 weeks later, the government, the State Department requested 
that the U.S. private sector get involved to help raise funds. It was 
a difficult time. We had had our own Hurricane Katrina just a 
month before. So it was a difficult process. 

But five senior executives from five major U.S. companies got to-
gether, agreed to launch a program to raise awareness in the U.S. 
and to help raise money and target that money; and they have 
helped raise over $100 million at this point. 

So that was a very good, clear example of the government getting 
the private sector involved to help with the severe international 
problem. So I look to that example as something that we should 
look at. You know, there doesn’t need to be a disaster to start these 
kinds of efforts to bring the private sector in. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. It works. 
I guess what I am saying, suggesting—and, again, I think this 

would be a worthwhile undertaking for NGOs, for think tanks that 
are located right here in Washington, the Heritage Foundation 
should join up with—whether it is Brookings or another large foun-
dation—to explore these efforts. We are generally here over-
whelmed with an array of issues that we have to address, usually 
in a crisis environment, and don’t have time to focus. But there is 
a role there for organized labor. 

Speaker Pelosi has elevated—in fact, has taken somebody from 
the staff of the full committee to deal with the appropriate utiliza-
tion of parliamentary exchanges. I mean, I can tell you firsthand 
that I think exchanges among legislative bodies are very, very posi-
tive. 

Myself and several other members were visited today by mem-
bers of the Venezuelan National Assembly. I was instrumental in 
an effort that dissipated, but now we are in the process of making 
an effort to restore it. It was called El Grupo de Boston. It was a 
diverse selection of parliamentarians from both the Venezuelan Na-
tional Assembly and the U.S. Congress, and it was a mechanism 
for dialogue. 
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We know the tensions that currently exist between the executive 
branches, but that is something that I dare say—that is another 
setting at the table that has to be explored if we are going to, I 
believe, look at public diplomacy in full measure. And we don’t 
have the time or the resources to do it. I applaud the administra-
tion for convening that public-private meeting, but it has got to be 
sustained over a period of time. I mean, I know that—I am sure 
that Secretary Hughes is busy, but I think it is an appropriate role 
for organizations such as the Heritage Foundation to take a look 
at the recommendations or the analysis of the GAO and, with their 
own experience, expand on it, make it a bigger dinner table. 

Ms. CURTIS. They have been writing on the issue of public diplo-
macy. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. Bring us together. They have nice offices over 
there. We can find our way over. Select some key players and de-
velop a prototype. 

I mean, we have got to shift into action at that point in time and 
we have to, in my judgment, expand the dollars that are necessary 
or we are going to continue to erode in terms of world opinion and 
threaten our national security interests. All of our national inter-
ests, not just our security. 

To you, Ms. Curtis, there has been resistance within the State 
Department bureaucracy to have offices spend more time on public 
diplomacy activities. How bad is the resistance, and how can we 
deal with it? 

Ms. CURTIS. Well, I don’t have any numbers or figures or per-
centages. I just know that it is an issue. And, again, one wouldn’t 
think that, 51⁄2 years after 9/11 and looking at some of the policies 
that you had talked about earlier, that this would still be an issue. 
But my understanding is that it is, and I think there may be a lot 
of different factors contributing to this. 

One is sheer time constraint. Our diplomats overseas are very 
busy with—whether it is responding to the latest terrorist attack, 
the political crisis going on, most of our Embassies are over-
stretched, and they are very busy. So I think that is an issue. So, 
again, resources, staffing. 

But also there—it is a culture as well that their primary goal, 
political or economic officers feel, is to report; and traditionally the 
evaluations of their performance as an officer is based on their re-
porting. 

But what I think we need to do is in addition—I think Secretary 
Hughes is trying to do it. She is making media appearances, for ex-
ample, be part of the evaluation process, particularly for ambas-
sadors, which is great. But I think we need to go even further and 
make involvement by our political and economic officers in ex-
change programs. 

I mentioned to you something I had gotten involved in 12 years 
ago but felt was very worthwhile. So I don’t have a good sense for 
how much our political and economic officers get involved in these 
kind of exchange programs or how much they are involved with 
getting out with the civil society and fostering discussion and open 
exchange, but my sense is they are probably not doing enough of 
it. So part of it is cultural and will take just continuing to spotlight 
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how important these issues are. But part of it is also sheer time 
constraint. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. I appreciate the time constraint. I have tremen-
dous respect for our Foreign Service Officers. I have been in some 
tough places. They have a tough job. 

But I fear sometimes that they talk to the same people all the 
time. It is the ones you talk to, you are getting the same feedback, 
and you think you are out there. We have got to get out there. And 
that is a cultural shift, and we have got to pay them more money. 
I mean, you have got to put it out there. I mean, we have to value 
their service with appropriate compensation, particularly when 
they are making sacrifices. 

Mr. Ford, have you—I know you servey public diplomacy offices. 
Do you have any—would you care to offer any comments? 

Mr. FORD. Yeah. We did serve a public affairs office. It has been 
a while. I think we did it in 2003 in our first report. We canvassed, 
I believe, 75 officers overseas. 

Really, the purpose of our survey was to get an understanding 
of some of the things you just mentioned. How frequently they can 
get out of the office, how much of a burden they had in terms of 
trying to do all of the different tasks there either the ambassador 
was asking them to undertake during the day or things coming 
from Washington. And, frankly, the survey showed that a large 
number of them felt that they didn’t have enough time to go out 
and conduct public diplomacy activities outside the Embassy. Many 
of them felt they were overburdened at the time because of all of 
the administrative tasks and things like that that they have to do 
on a day-in, day-out basis. 

So even though that survey is a little old—and, anecdotally, in 
subsequent trips to Embassies, we heard this from several officers. 
So it is an issue. 

And as I mentioned earlier, we are short a number of people—
the number of slots are—haven’t been all filled, and they have 
some folks there that haven’t been trained yet sufficiently in a lan-
guage to effectively communicate even if they do go outside the 
walls. So these need to be addressed so we can optimize the people 
we do have out there. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. I think that is where it is at. We can’t do this 
on the cheap. We just cannot do it on the cheap. And when you 
think of the alternative, the alternative is unacceptable. And you 
think of the human losses and the waste of dollars that is currently 
occurring, at least in my opinion. 

Ms. CURTIS. And we need to think about the priorities as well. 
Like I said, building in the evaluation process, the importance of 
engaging with civil society, participating in these kinds of pro-
grams, not just the meetings with the minister. So I just wanted 
to emphasize that point. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. I think that is very true. 
I was attracted into government because of President Kennedy. 

I was young then—kind of young then. And that same kind of—
that spirit of idealism and adventure and the need. He was an in-
spiring figure. And the initiatives such as the Peace Corps and the 
Alliance for Progress in Latin America, we need to recapture that. 
But we have got to be realistic, too. We can’t ask people to do—
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you know, we can’t give them too many tasks so that none get done 
well. 

And I really believe this is a resource issue. I know what we 
need is let Mr. Ford and his team to go out and to give us a true 
assessment of what the costs are, rather than to worry about OMB 
and the bean counters. And I say that respectfully, because I would 
rather spend $50 billion on soft power so that we don’t have to 
spend a trillion to support a military and go to war and lose Amer-
ican lives. I mean, that is the choice not just in terms of this mo-
ment but in terms of our future. 

As long as we are the superpower, there is always going to be 
a crisis on the horizon. And I would rather do the up-front invest-
ment and send the young Americans out to preach peace than to 
send them to war. 

I suggest, as part of this kind of initiative, it is recapturing that 
spirit of the libraries. As a young student, you go and sit and meet 
some foreigners over a book in a very human way and you connect 
in that fashion. But we can’t do this on the cheap, but we need—
but nobody, even—nobody has got the capacity to tell us really 
what the needs are, because everybody is constricted by, well, you 
can’t spend more money. Well, you know what? We are borrowing 
money now from the Chinese to fund a war in Iraq. That just 
doesn’t make any sense at all. 

That is why I would love to send out Mr. Ford and his team to 
run the numbers and come back with what I am sure would be a 
very significant figure so that we can take the kind of initiatives 
that we are talking about. 

Do you have planes to catch or do you have other commitments? 
What to me is the greatest mystery of all is the broadcasting. I 

mean, if anybody can explain that to me, then that is a tutorial I 
would like to have. I mean, the Broadcasting Board of Governors 
and the Voice of America and over here you have—there doesn’t 
seem to be any coherence on how effective is it. I look at your re-
port, and there is no way to determine what return on the invest-
ment that we are getting. There is no methodology. 

I have a particular concern about TV Marti. It is a TV in search 
of an audience. I have been to Cuba on a number of occasions. I 
haven’t just met with government officials there or dissidents. I 
have walked along the streets and gotten to know a lot of people. 
Nobody has ever seen it, and yet we are spending millions on it. 

And now it comes down to Radio Marti, and what are we doing? 
We are outsourcing it to some hard line radio station in the private 
sector down in Miami. I mean, does this make any sense at all? 

And, again, I am focusing on Cuba. I know it is a very sensitive 
issue to a lot of people and all of that. But let us just talk about 
it in terms of effectiveness. I mean, what do you do with this? Do 
you have to blow it up first, the BBG or whatever they are called, 
and kind of start afresh? Maybe I am overstating the case. 

Ms. CURTIS. Sir, in my written testimony I had made the sugges-
tion that we think about a different set-up. Considering the impor-
tance of the issue of public diplomacy and the mission that the 
Broadcasting Board of Governors has, I think we do need to think 
about whether the decision-making process, as it is, is really the 
most effective, or whether we would like to have a chairman with 
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more executive authority and have the governors be in more of an 
advisory role. 

Because I do think that decisions have not been always handled 
in the most efficient manner and that there has been a tendency 
to adopt pet projects rather than having a clear, strategic focus and 
making that clear to the other staff. 

Mr. DELAHUNT. I noted that in your testimony, and it—like I 
said to you at the beginning, just all of your testimony, I thought, 
was brilliant. It was insightful. Because I agreed with just about 
everything you said. 

Ms. CURTIS. Just to point out, the Heritage Foundation has been 
supporting this for a long time. If you go on our Web site, there 
are papers going back to 2003 making these kinds of recommenda-
tions on public diplomacy efforts. But I am very happy——

Mr. DELAHUNT. Maybe we should make it an advisory council so 
we can get input from stakeholders. I don’t have a sense of it—I 
know there was some gentleman that got involved in some con-
troversy. I don’t know if he is still there or not. But there is no 
identifiable individual in our Government that one can look to and 
hold accountable. What is happening? 

I get different reports, you know, in terms of the Middle East, 
MBN, I think it is. I mean, it was so simple during the Cold War. 
It was the Voice of America and, you know, Radio Free Europe. I 
mean, are we capable of structuring a simplified—I mean, Mr. 
Ford, I reviewed your testimony and looked at the schematic. It is 
dizzying. I can’t follow all of the angles. It is beyond my capacity. 
There has to be a better way. 

Mr. FORD. We tried to simplify it for you. 
Mr. DELAHUNT. There are so many lines. 
I mean, again, I would recommend—I know, Mr. Ford, that is not 

GAO’s role, but I would hope that, again, because you happen to 
be here, Ms. Curtis, if the Heritage Foundation could sit down 
with, you know, AEI or Brookings or Center for American Progress, 
just examine it and come to Congress with something that was co-
herent. 

We are wasting taxpayer dollars that could be used, in my judg-
ment, much more effectively to explain America. I don’t necessarily 
think we have to communicate a message. I think what is best is 
if foreigners could see C–SPAN and see how we argue passionately 
and how we disagree and yet somehow we move an agenda forward 
that hopefully, on occasion, is positive and constructive. I think 
that is the message that we want to send. We have the capacity 
to disagree and be angry, be disappointed, but not indulge in any 
violence. Isn’t that really the fundamental message that we want 
to deliver in terms of democracy? 

This hearing is now adjourned. 
[Whereupon, at 3:35 p.m., the subcommittee was adjourned.]
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